Supporting Children — By Supporting Practitioners and Families During COVID-19 and Beyond

Rapid Research Review on Effective Approaches for Reducing Childhood Anxiety



Christine Schwartz Donna Yung Jen Barican Daphne Gray-Grant Charlotte Waddell







We celebrate the Indigenous Peoples on whose traditional territories we are all privileged to live and work.

Citing This Report

Schwartz C, Yung D, Barican J, Gray-Grant D, Waddell C. Supporting Children – By Supporting Practitioners and Families During COVID-19 and Beyond. Rapid Research Review on Effective Approaches for Reducing Childhood Anxiety. Vancouver, BC: Children's Health Policy Centre, Simon Fraser University, 2020.

Acknowledgements

The British Columbia (BC) Representative for Children and Youth funded this report. The BC Ministry of Children and Family Development, Child and Youth Mental Health Policy Branch, also supports our work.

Children's Health Policy Centre Faculty of Health Sciences, Simon Fraser University 2435 – 515 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, BC V6B 5K3 778.782.7775 | childhealthpolicy.ca

Contents

Ex	Executive Summary				
١.	Background				
	1.1	Mental Health Consequences of COVID-19 for BC's Children			
	1.2	Starting With Anxiety			
	1.3	Goals of This Rapid Research Review			
2.	Met	nods	7		
3.	Wha	at We Found	7		
	3.1	Cognitive-Behavioural Therapy is the Most Effective Psychosocial Intervention	7		
	3.2	Virtual CBT for Practitioners	8		
		3.2.1 Educating children and families	8		
		3.2.2 Managing physical symptoms of anxiety	9		
		3.2.3 Challenging anxious thinking			
		3.2.4 Facing feared situations	9		
		3.2.5 Other resources for practitioners			
	3.3	Self-Directed CBT for Children and Families			
	3.4	Other CBT Resources in BC			
	3.5	Medications Are Also Sometimes Needed			
	3.6	Meeting the Needs in Indigenous Communities			
4.	Con	clusions	13		
Re	feren	ces	14		

Executive Summary

The COVID-19 public health crisis has introduced new and urgent mental health challenges for children across British Columbia. Among these challenges, this rapid research review addresses childhood anxiety because anxiety disorders are the most common childhood mental disorders. Problematic childhood anxiety may also increase during the COVID-19 pandemic and in its aftermath. Acknowledging needed changes in service delivery, we specifically address anxiety interventions that practitioners can provide virtually and that children and families can access using self-directed delivery. Findings are as follows, based on recent systematic reviews of randomized controlled trials conducted in children.

For virtual delivery:

- Cognitive-behavioural therapy (CBT) is the most effective psychosocial intervention for preventing and treating childhood anxiety and can be readily adapted for virtual delivery (adaptation details and resources for practitioners are described below).
- Fluoxetine is an effective medication for treating childhood anxiety when CBT has not succeeded; it
 has fewer troubling side effects than other medications and can be prescribed and monitored
 virtually.

For self-directed delivery:

• Three CBT interventions were effective: MoodGYM for preventing childhood anxiety; and Turnaround and Helping Your Anxious Child for treating childhood anxiety.

COVID-19 has caused significant disruptions in the lives of all children and families in BC – and is affecting some children and families disproportionately. Yet our findings suggest that there are pathways to reducing childhood anxiety during the COVID-19 pandemic, and beyond.

I. Background

1.1 Mental Health Consequences of COVID-19 for BC's Children

The COVID-19 public health crisis has introduced new and urgent mental health challenges for children across British Columbia (BC), given physical distancing and isolation requirements, among other stressors. These measures have affected all children – potentially leading to increased fear, sadness, boredom, frustration and anger for many young people.¹ Temporary school closures have also reduced access to learning opportunities and educational programs, exacerbating the impact. At the same time, COVID-19 is affecting some children disproportionately. The pandemic has created severe social and economic challenges, causing some parents and some communities to struggle to meet children's basic needs.¹ These challenges have the potential to exacerbate existing socioeconomic disparities.² COVID-19 has also increased the risk of family violence, resulting in more children needing exposed to this form of adversity.³ Closures have added to the burdens, particularly for children needing school- or clinic-based social programs and mental health services.⁴ (Throughout, "children" refers to young people aged 18 years and younger.)

Past experiences with significant disasters predict there will be immediate repercussions for children, as well as negative outcomes for years to follow.⁵⁻⁶ This is because children are often more deeply affected by disasters, their mental health needs being overshadowed by the needs of their families and communities.⁷ The needs during the current crisis are further compounded as mental disorders are already the leading cause of childhood disability globally – and as only a third of children with disorders receive specialized mental health services.⁸⁻¹¹ Consequently, BC's response to the COVID-19 pandemic and its aftermath needs to address the existing and emerging mental health needs of children. This includes ensuring that children's basic needs are met, in addition to ensuring access to effective interventions.

BC's response to the COVID-19 pandemic and its aftermath needs to address the existing and emerging mental health needs of children.

I.2 Starting With Anxiety

Anxiety disorders are an important focus because they are the most common mental disorders for children.¹² In fact, at any given time, pre-COVID-19 an estimated 6.0% of young people – or nearly 45,000 children in BC – will meet diagnostic criteria for an anxiety disorder.¹³⁻¹⁴ These disorders include agoraphobia, generalized anxiety disorder, panic disorder, selective mutism, separation anxiety disorder, social anxiety disorder and specific phobias.¹⁵ It is also anticipated that problematic anxiety may increase for children in response to conditions during COVID-19 and beyond.¹⁶

It is particularly crucial to address anxiety symptoms and disorders early because if they are not prevented or treated in childhood, they typically persist into adulthood, adding greatly to individual and population burdens.¹⁷⁻¹⁸ Beyond this, there is strong research evidence on effective prevention and treatment interventions for childhood anxiety – so there is much that can be done.¹⁹

1.3 Goals of This Rapid Research Review

To assist the greatest number of children with anxiety during COVID-19 and beyond, given physical distancing and other restrictions, innovative intervention delivery approaches are needed. These include virtual and self-directed approaches. Virtual interventions are those that can be delivered by practitioners without seeing children or families in person – using telephone, email, internet or videoconferencing. Virtual approaches are essential during COVID-19 given the need for physical distancing. Self-directed interventions are those that children and/or families can complete mostly on their own, although practitioner support may be included, albeit without face-to-face contact. Self-directed approaches can help with longstanding children's mental health service shortfalls²⁰ – and are particularly useful during the COVID-19 pandemic, when many children cannot attend programs delivered in their typical locations.

We therefore aimed to identify effective child anxiety interventions that could be provided using virtual or self-directed approaches. The overarching goal was to assist practitioners and families to support children not only during COVID-19 but also beyond.

2. Methods

To identify the most effective approaches, this rapid research review built on a recent systematic review and meta-analysis of 14 randomized controlled trials (RCTs) evaluating anxiety prevention and treatment interventions over the past six decades.¹⁹ Using RCT methods helps to ensure that any benefits found are due to the intervention rather than due to chance or other factors, while systematic review and meta-analyses methods have the advantage of combining findings from multiple RCTs. To be deemed effective for this review, interventions had to show significant success in reducing anxiety symptoms or diagnoses in children aged 18 years or younger.

To address *virtual* anxiety interventions, we drew on the systematic review and meta-analysis noted above to identify effective anxiety interventions.¹⁹ We then described how effective interventions could be adapted for virtual delivery, based on our clinical training and experience in child and adolescent psychology and psychiatry.

To identify *self-directed* anxiety interventions, we re-analyzed two recent systematic reviews of RCTs evaluating these approaches for use by children and families.²¹⁻²² Relevant data were summarized and interpreted. For applicability to children and families in BC, we also required that effective self-directed interventions be available to the general public without requiring specialized training or licensing.

3. What We Found

3.1 Cognitive-Behavioural Therapy is the Most Effective Psychosocial Intervention

Based on this rapid research review, cognitive-behavioural therapy (CBT) is the most effective psychosocial intervention for both preventing and treating childhood anxiety disorders. CBT can (and should) be adapted to individual needs and circumstances, but four core components are typically included:

- 1. Educating children and families/caregivers about anxiety;
- 2. Managing physical symptoms of anxiety;
- 3. Challenging unrealistic and unhelpful anxious thinking; and
- 4. Facing feared situations.²³

A recent systematic review and meta-analysis found that CBT produced statistically-significant benefits and made a clinically-meaningful difference in children's daily lives.¹⁸ (The former was indicated by p values of less than .05; the latter was shown by CBT producing a substantial effect size with log odds ratio=0.95). Notably, CBT was also effective from the preschool through the late teen years, meaning that it can be applied across important developmental stages.¹⁹

Cognitive-behavioural therapy is the most effective psychosocial intervention for both preventing and treating childhood anxiety disorders.

3.2 Virtual CBT for Practitioners

All four CBT components can be adapted for virtual delivery by telephone or videoconferencing. Here, we outline how each component can be adapted.

3.2.1 Educating children and families

Educational materials, including the CBT model of anxiety (Figure 1), can be adapted for virtual delivery. For example, the model can be displayed on screen during a virtual session or emailed/mailed to young people and their parents/caregivers in advance of a telephone session. (However, it is important to acknowledge that many teens, and even children, may prefer not to include parents/caregivers; this preference should be explored and respected.) Practitioners can highlight the connections between thoughts, feelings, body sensations and behaviours that are associated with anxiety, then guide children to provide examples from their own experiences. By reviewing this model, children (and parents/caregivers) can learn about anxiety and how treatment will help them manage it. In particular, practitioners can let children know that they will learn strategies for managing physical symptoms and for changing their thinking so it is more accurate and helpful – thereby helping them cope, even with very difficult situations, such as during COVID-19.



Figure I: Cognitive-Behavioural Therapy Model of Anxiety

3.2.2 Managing physical symptoms of anxiety

Techniques to address physical symptoms of anxiety also lend themselves to virtual delivery. Specifically, during a telephone or videoconference session, practitioners can use the same breathing and progressive muscle relaxation exercises that they would typically use during face-to-face sessions. (Breathing exercises teach children to take slow, deep breaths to counter the rapid shallow breathing that often occurs during anxious moments; progressive muscle relaxation exercises teach children to notice when their muscles are tense and provide strategies to help them relax.) Practitioners can also create audio recordings to help young people practice between sessions.

3.2.3 Challenging anxious thinking

Another core component of CBT involves teaching children to recognize the specific thoughts they experience when they are anxious, then to identify more realistic and helpful ways to think about feared situations. Practitioners can have the same dialogues they typically would have in-person to help children identify and challenge their worries and thoughts during virtual sessions. To help children practice between sessions, practitioners can provide worksheets – electronically or by mail – so children can note both anxious thoughts as well as more realistic ones. Parents/caregivers can be helpful in supporting children to complete these exercises. Table 1 gives examples of fears that young people may experience during COVID-19, as well as ways to challenge these thoughts.

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Anxious Thought	Realistic Thought
Mom's going to catch COVID-19 at work	Mom is taking all the steps she can to keep herself safe at work and at home
lt's never going to get back to normal	Scientists around the world are working on a vaccine and restrictions will start to loosen
I'm going to get behind in school	Everyone's getting used to working at home and I'm connecting with my teachers online to help me keep on track

Table I. Challenging Anxious Thinking

3.2.4 Facing feared situations

The final component involves supporting children to face the situations that cause them anxiety. This is typically done by helping children identify challenging situations and rate their level of anxiety for each – to create an "anxiety hierarchy." Anxiety hierarchies typically involve children identifying five or six feared situations and rating their associated anxiety on a scale from 0 to 10. Table 2 gives examples.

Practitioners prepare children to face feared situations by encouraging them to practice deep breathing and relaxation and to practice thinking more realistically. Children are then supported to use these techniques while learning to tolerate exposure to the feared situation — until their anxiety is significantly reduced. Some children may begin by imagining themselves in the feared situation, rather than facing it in real life. Parents/caregivers can support children by helping them create anxiety hierarchies and preparing them to face their feared situations.

Feared	Anxiety Rating		
Situation	(0-10)		
Dad being in another room in the house for 30 minutes	3		
Dad going grocery shopping	6		
Dad going to donate blood	10		

Table 2: Creating a Hierarchy to Help Reduce Anxiety

3.2.5 Other resources for practitioners

For practitioners who want more information about using CBT to treat childhood anxiety, comprehensive treatment manuals are available,²⁴⁻²⁵ as are clinical guides detailing strategies for delivering CBT via the internet.²⁶ Importantly, practitioners who use virtual delivery must take precautions to ensure confidentiality for children and families – whether in primary care, specialized mental health or school settings. Additional information on navigating legal and ethics issues in virtual delivery is available for practitioners.²⁷

3.3 Self-Directed CBT for Children and Families

We found three successful self-directed forms of CBT for use with children: MoodGYM for prevention, and Turnaround and Helping Your Anxious Child for treatment. All three were evaluated in Australia but are accessible to BC children and families without needing practitioner involvement.

MoodGYM, an online program, was designed to prevent and reduce anxiety symptoms for children aged 12 to 17 years. It consists of five internet-based modules teaching youth to use CBT techniques to change unhelpful thinking and improve self-esteem and relationships. The RCT evaluating this prevention program found that it significantly reduced anxiety symptoms six months after program completion.²⁸ The five MoodGYM modules and workbook are available for download (by individuals 18 years or older) for approximately \$39 (2020 CDN) per year of access.²⁹

Turnaround, an online program, was designed to treat anxiety for children aged five to 11 years. It consists of 10 CBT audio lessons for children and families. Parent/caregiver materials also provide guidance on using praise and problem-solving to help reduce children's anxiety. To reinforce learning, children complete daily journal exercises as well. The RCT evaluating this treatment found that it significantly reduced anxiety diagnoses and symptoms, and improved child functioning by program completion.³⁰ Turnaround is available for download, including audio files (MP3) and a journal workbook (PDF), which can be purchased online for approximately \$175 (2020 CDN).³¹ The cost of this program, however, may be prohibitive for some families.

The book, Helping Your Anxious Child, was designed to treat anxiety for children aged six to 12 years — mainly by teaching parents/caregivers to use CBT. As well as detailing core CBT strategies, the book reviews ways to help build children's social skills. The RCT evaluating this treatment found that it significantly reduced anxiety diagnoses and symptom severity by study completion.³² The book can be purchased at bookstores or online for approximately \$23 (2020 CDN).³³

3.4 Other CBT Resources in BC

The BC branch of the Canadian Mental Health Association offers a CBT program for BC parents/ caregivers to support children aged three to 12 years who are experiencing mild-to-moderate anxiety. This program, Confident Parents: Thriving Kids, is delivered to parents/caregivers through videos and workbooks along with four-to-eight weekly telephone coaching sessions with practitioners.³⁴ Referrals are accepted from primary care practitioners including family physicians and pediatricians, as well as from teachers, school counsellors and Ministry of Children and Family Development Child and Youth Mental Health (MCFD-CYMH) practitioners.³⁵

MCFD-CYMH also offers mental health services at no cost for all children in BC. These services include CBT for anxiety and virtual services during COVID-19 – as well as specific services for Indigenous children and families through Aboriginal Child and Youth Mental Health.³⁶ MCFD-CYMH accepts referrals directly from children and families as well as from primary care practitioners and schools.³⁷

As well, MCFD-CYMH has developed Everyday Anxiety Strategies for Educators (EASE) in collaboration with BC educators and clinical experts. EASE is a collection of CBT strategies for addressing anxiety with students from kindergarten to grade 7. While initially designed as classroom resources, EASE prevention resources have been adapted for families to use online at home in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. EASE is available for free.³⁸

3.5 Medications Are Also Sometimes Needed

When anxiety is not detected early, such that it becomes more severe, or when CBT has not resulted in sustained improvements in a child's anxiety, medication may be considered. Fluoxetine, a "selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor," has been found to be particularly successful for childhood anxiety. A recent systematic review and meta-analysis based on RCT evidence found that this medication reduced anxiety symptoms and diagnoses, with fewer troublesome side effects than other similar medications.¹⁹ Practitioners prescribing these medications nevertheless need to regularly monitor for both efficacy and side effects. As with other interventions, practitioners must also ensure the underlying factors contributing to anxiety are addressed, prior to prescribing.

During COVID-19, many BC physicians are providing mental health services, including prescribing, using the telephone or videoconferencing. (Patient confidentiality must be ensured when using these approaches.) To meet this need during COVID-19, the BC College of Physicians and Surgeons is supporting physicians to use these approaches.³⁹ So if medication is needed for childhood anxiety, there are avenues for obtaining this form of help.

3.6 Meeting the Needs in Indigenous Communities

COVID-19 has the potential to exacerbate existing socioeconomic disparities,² which already affect many Indigenous communities in BC. While coping with these challenges, some Indigenous communities have nevertheless successfully kept COVID-19 transmission rates well below those in other BC communities.⁴⁰⁻⁴² Even so, concerns persist about the availability of mental health services for Indigenous children during COVID-19 and beyond. For example, self-delivered interventions requiring internet access may be inaccessible for many families given that approximately 27% of BC's Indigenous communities still lack basic broadband access – despite this being declared a basic service in Canada.⁴³

There are other barriers that need to be overcome to ensure that Indigenous children and families have access to suitable interventions. Specifically, effective CBT interventions for childhood anxiety may need to be adapted to be more culturally relevant. To this end, one CBT program that is effective in preventing and treating anxiety – Friends – has been adapted and enriched to make it more culturally engaging, meaningful and appealing for Indigenous children in BC.^{19, 44} Revisions included using storytelling and integrating concepts like medicine pouches, circles of support and a medicine wheel.⁴⁴

4. Conclusions

COVID-19 has caused significant disruptions in the lives of all children and families in BC – and is affecting some children and families disproportionately. The pandemic has also likely caused increased anxiety for many children, including some whose anxiety will be severe enough to require treatment. CBT – the most effective psychosocial approach for preventing and treating childhood anxiety – can be adapted for virtual delivery by practitioners and for self-directed delivery for children and families. At the same time, medications such as fluoxetine can be helpful when CBT has not succeeded and can also be prescribed and monitored virtually. These findings suggest there is a path forward for helping children with anxiety in challenging times, during COVID-19 and beyond.

There is a path forward for helping children with anxiety in challenging times, during COVID-19 and beyond.

References

- 1. Brooks, S., Webster, R., Smith, L., et al. (2020). The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: Rapid review of the evidence. *Lancet*, *395*, 912–920.
- 2. Campion, J., Javed, A., Sartorius, N., et al. (2020). Addressing the public mental health challenge of COVID-19. *Lancet Psychiatry*. doi:10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30240-6
- 3. United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women. (2020). COVID-19 and ending violence against women and girls. Retrieved June 2020, from https://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2020/04/issue-brief-covid-19-andending-violence-against-women-and-girls
- 4. YoungMinds. (2020). Coronavirus: Impact on young people with mental health needs. Retrieved May 2020, from https://youngminds.org.uk/media/3708/coronavirus-report_march2020.pdf
- 5. Sprang, G., & Silman, M. (2013). Posttraumatic stress disorder in parents and youth after healthrelated disasters. *Disaster Medicine and Public Health Preparedness*, 7, 105–110.
- 6. Seddighi, H., Salmani, I., Javadi, M., et al. (2019). Child abuse in natural disasters and conflicts: A systematic review. *Trauma*, *Violence*, & *Abuse*. doi:10.1177/1524838019835973
- 7. Danese, A., Smith, P., Chitsabesan, P., et al. (2020). Child and adolescent mental health amidst emergencies and disasters. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 216, 159–162.
- Erskine, H., Moffitt, T., Copeland, W., et al. (2015). A heavy burden on young minds: The global burden of mental health and substance use disorder in children and youth. *Psychological Medicine*, 45, 1551–1563.
- 9. Waddell, C., Shepherd, C., Schwartz, C., et al. (2014). Child and youth mental disorders: Prevalence and evidence-based interventions. Vancouver, BC: Children's Health Policy Centre, Faculty of Health Sciences, Simon Fraser University.
- 10. Waddell, C., Georgiades, K., Duncan, L., et al. (2019). 2014 Ontario Child Health Study findings: Policy implications for Canada. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 64, 227–231.
- 11. Georgiades, K., Duncan, L., Wang, L., et al. (2019). Six-month prevalence of mental disorders and service contacts among children and youth in Ontario: Evidence from the 2014 Ontario Child Health Study. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 64, 246–255.
- 12. Polanczyk, G., Salum, G., Sugaya, L., et al. (2015). Annual research review: A meta-analysis of the worldwide prevalence of mental disorders in children and adolescents. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *56*, 345–365.
- 13. Barican, J., Yung, D., Zheng, Y., et al. (2020). *Prevalence of children's mental disorders:* A systematic *review and meta-analysis to inform policy.* Manuscript in preparation.
- 14. Statistics Canada. (2019). Population estimates on July 1st, by age and sex, Table 17-10-0005-01.
 Retrieved June 2020, from https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/cv.action?pid=1710000501
- 15. American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, Fifth *Edition*. Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association.

- 16. Jiao, W., Wang, L., Liu, J., et al. (2020). Behavioral and emotional disorders in children during the COVID-19 epidemic. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 221, 264–266.
- 17. Kim-Cohen, J., Caspi, A., Moffitt, T., et al. (2003). Prior juvenile diagnoses in adults with mental disorder: Developmental follow-back of a prospective-longitudinal cohort. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 60, 709–717.
- Kessler, R., Angermeyer, M., Anthony, J., et al. (2007). Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of mental disorders in the World Health Organization's World Mental Health Survey initiative. World Psychiatry, 6, 168–176.
- 19. Schwartz, C., Barican, J., Yung, D., et al. (2019). Six decades of preventing and treating childhood anxiety disorders: A systematic review to inform policy and practice. *Evidence-Based Mental Health*, 22, 103–110.
- 20. Kazdin, A. (2015). Technology-based interventions and reducing the burdens of mental illness: Perspectives and comments on the special series. *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice*, 22, 359–366.
- Schwartz, C., Yung, D., Cairncross, N., et al. (2020). Prevention: Reaching more kids. Children's Mental Health Research Quarterly, 14(1), 1–16. Vancouver, BC: Children's Health Policy Centre, Faculty of Health Sciences, Simon Fraser University.
- Schwartz, C., Yung, D., Cairncross, N., et al. (2020). Mental health treatment: Reaching more kids. Children's Mental Health Research Quarterly, 14(2), 1–16. Vancouver, BC: Children's Health Policy Centre, Faculty of Health Sciences, Simon Fraser University.
- Schwartz, C., Waddell, C., Barican, J., et al. (2016). Helping children with anxiety. *Children's Mental Health Research Quarterly*, 10(3), 1–16. Vancouver, BC: Children's Health Policy Centre, Faculty of Health Sciences, Simon Fraser University.
- 24. Chorpita, B. (2007). Modular cognitive-behavioral therapy for childhood anxiety disorders. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- 25. Bunge, E., Mandil, J., Consoli, A., et al. (2017). CBT strategies for anxious and depressed children and adolescents: A clinician's toolkit. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- 26. Andersson, G. (2014). The internet and CBT: A clinical guide paperback. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- 27. Luxton, D., Nelson, E., & Maheu, M. (2016). A practitioner's guide to telemental health: How to conduct legal, ethical, and evidence-based telepractice. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- 28. Calear, A., Christensen, H., Mackinnon, A., et al. (2009). The YouthMood Project: A randomized controlled trial of an online cognitive behavioral program with adolescents. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 77, 1021–1032.
- 29. Moodgym©. (n.d.). Retrieved May 2020, from https://moodym.com.au
- 30. Infantino, A., Donovan, C., & March, S. (2016). A randomized controlled trial of an audio-based treatment program for child anxiety disorders. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 79, 35–45.
- 31. Turnaround©. (n.d.). Retrieved May 2020, from https://www.turnaroundanxiety.com
- 32. Rapee, R., Abbott, M., & Lyneham, H. (2006). Bibliotherapy for children with anxiety disorders using written materials for parents: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 74, 436–444.
- 33. Rapee, R., Wignall, A., & Spence, S. (2008). *Helping Your Anxious Child*, 2nd edition. Oakland, CA: New Harbinger Publications.

- 34. Canadian Mental Health Association. (2020). Confident Parents: Thriving Kids. Retrieved May 2020, from https://welcome.cmhacptk.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/CPTK_Brochure_11x8.5_02-07-20_WEB.pdf
- 35. Canadian Mental Health Association. (2020). *How do I sign up*? Retrieved May 2020, from https://welcome.cmhacptk.ca/how-do-i-sign-up
- 36. Berland, A. (2008). Promises kept, miles to go: A review of Child and Youth Mental Health services in BC following implementation of the 2003 Child and Youth Mental Health Plan. Retrieved June 2020, from https://cwrp.ca/sites/default/files/publications/en/BC-CYMH_Review_report.pdf
- 37. Government of British Columbia. (2020). *Child & Youth Mental Health.* Retrieved May 2020, from https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/health/managing-your-health/mental-health-substance-use/child-teen-mental-health
- 38. Government of British Columbia. (2020). *Everyday Anxiety Strategies for Educators* (EASE). Retrieved June 2020, from https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/health/managing-your-health/mental-health-substance-use/child-teen-mental-health/ease
- 39. College of Physicians and Surgeons of British Columbia. (2020). *Prescribing medications during the COVID-19 pandemic*. Retrieved May 2020, from https://www.cpsbc.ca/news/COVID-19-updates/prescribing-medications
- Indigenous Services Canada. (2020). Epidemiological summary of COVID-19 cases in First Nations communities. Retrieved June 2020, from https://www.sacisc.gc.ca/eng/1589895506010/1589895527965
- 41. BC Centre for Disease Control. (2020). BC COVID-19 data. Retrieved June 2020, from http://www.bccdc.ca/health-info/diseases-conditions/covid-19/data
- 42. Statistics Canada. (2017). Total population by Aboriginal identity and Registered or Treaty Indian status, British Columbia, 2016 Census. Table 98-404-X2016001. Retrieved June 2020, from https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/as-sa/fogs-spg/Facts-PR-Eng.cfm?TOPIC=9&LANG=Eng&GK=PR&GC=59
- 43. All Nations Trust Company. (2019). *Pathways to Technology: Outlook 2018/2019*. Retrieved June 2020, from http://www.pathwaystotechnology.ca/downloads/2019-newsletter.pdf
- 44. Miller, L., Laye-Gindhu, A., Bennett, J., et al. (2011). An effectiveness study of a culturally enriched school-based CBT anxiety prevention program. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 40, 618–629.